
 

 

Northampton Diverse Communities Equalities Forum 
 

on Thursday, 24 January 2013 at 6:30 pm until not later than 8:00 pm 
 

in The Holding Room, The Guildhall,  St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE.  
 

Agenda 
 

1. Apologies   
 

2. Welcomes and Introductions   
 

3. Minutes   

 Minutes and matters arising (minutes of 27 September and 22 November 2012)  
 
 

4. Police & Crime Commissioner (Adam Simmonds)   
 

5. Housing Tenant Engagement Strategy (Joe Biskupski)   
 

6. Holocaust Memorial Day - update (Joe Biskupski)   
 

7. Planning the work of the Forum for 2013 (Joe Biskupski)   
 

8. Community Information Exchange   
 

9. Items for next and future meetings   
 

10. Date Of Next Meeting - 14 March 2013 at 6.30pm in Holding Room   
 

Map and directions at: www.northampton.gov.uk/guildhall  
 

For more information about this meeting please contact:  
Joe Biskupski, Community Engagement Officer 
 

 jbiskupski@northampton.gov.uk 
 
 
 Tel: 0300 330 7000 
 
More information about the Forum generally is at: www.northampton.gov.uk/forums  
 
Facebook page: www.northampton.gov.uk/dcf  

 
 

Please note that this Forum is supported and funded by Northampton Borough Council.  
The Forum may work in partnership and collaboration with other community groups, councils 
and local services from time to time. The views expressed and decisions taken by the Forum 
are not necessarily those of Northampton Borough Council.  
 



Northampton Borough Council  

Northampton Diverse Communities Forum  

Thursday, 27 September 2012  

Minutes of meeting 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS (Chairs – Councillor Suresh Patel and John Rawlings)  

Everyone introduced themselves. People at the meeting included: Cllr Suresh Patel (Cllr Co-Chair), 

John Rawlings (Community Co-Chair), Morcea Walker, Anjona Roy (NREC), Lindsey Ambrose (NBC), 

Joe Biskupski (NBC), Matthew Toresen (FAN and Northampton Volunteering Centre) and Jo Wood 

(Northants County Council). 

Cllr Patel thanked Lindsey Ambrose for her hard work and support. John Rawlings expressed his 

sadness at Lindsey leaving. 

2. APOLOGIES  

There were none. 

3. MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING  

The minutes were agreed as an accurate record of the discussions of the meeting of 18 July 2012. 

Matters arising – catch up with Police – John Rawlings to follow this up. 

Housing update – this will take place tonight 

4. NCC – HATE CRIME REPORTING IN SCHOOLS: UPDATE (Jo Wood, School Improvement, 

Northamptonshire County Council)  

Jo Wood (NCC) provided a breakdown of the current position. Jo is the single point of contact for 

Hate Crime reporting within the education service. This is not a statutory requirement. With the 

widespread introduction of Academies, the local authority is stepping back.  

Jo has developed an online reporting system. This is based on a system used by all schools, with 

software adopted to allow reporting of protected characteristics. The system went live in July 2012. 

AR: NREC wrote to schools in the county, encouraging them to report and reminding them that they 

have to incorporate equality objectives within their service planning. Schools wrote back saying that 

there were problems with the software. A number of schools said that they did not have hate 

incidents. One school objected to their name and address being given and being written to. 

Schools must publish equalities objectives on their websites – these would be the focus of school 

improvement discussions.  

The Forum had a number of questions and comments, as follows:  

Qu. For schools that have anti-bullying accreditation, has the reporting improved?  

Jo Wood: Yes, there is better reporting among these schools. Within Northampton, there is only one 

school with this accreditation.  

Agenda Item 3

1



Comment: the secondary schools may ask what the outcome is of submitting a return. Some schools 

are already doing things in this area, but they don’t actually submit a return. 

Comment: the issue of resources is important here. Previously, there was a whole team doing this 

work. With resources being reduced, there is now there is only one person doing this work. 

Comment: this is worrying. This relates to children, but what about the parents? How should they 

respond to this? What can we do as a Forum? 

Comment: there is a need to encourage good practice. Need to consider whether schools are aware 

of the context and the value of this work, and need to ensure that appropriate efforts are made to 

counter racist language.  

Comment: there is a general duty among schools to eliminate racism. 

Jo Wood: it is important that schools evidence that they are reporting. 

Comment: Ofsted is the body that ensures that the school deals with pupil behaviour? The Forum 

should contact Ofsted 

AR: NREC writes to schools to remind them of their statutory requirements. These minutes of this 

Forum should be sent to Ofsted to inform them of our concerns.  

Comment: schools would need to produce significant evidence. If schools are doing excellent work in 

the area of anti-racism, it is important that they share it. 

Councillor Patel thanked Jo Wood for attending this evening’s meeting. 

5. ACHIEVEMENT OF PUPILS – AN UPDATE (in response to forum concerns – June 2012) (Kate 

Emmett)  

Jenny – would like to know how children within the county are achieving. 

NCC collects data which can provide trends of attainment. There is good news for Black children; the 

data shows good performance during the previous year. However, the performance of Black British 

children remains a concern. The remaining Black groupings are doing well. Black Caribbean children 

are the highest performing among Foundation Year (Reception Year) pupils. Their attainment has 

been improving over the past few years.  Whilst overall, at National and County level, 64% of pupils 

achieve a “good level of attainment”, 72% of Black Caribbean, 68% of Dual Heritage Caribbean and 

67% of Dual Heritage African. 58% of Somali children achieve a “good level of achievement”.  

Comment: The Black Caribbean category could include Black British.  

Comment: MW said that she has met university students who had been involved in the Black 

Achievement Programme in Northampton.  

Comment: Deone McKenzie working for Hewlett Packard would like to put together a conference for 

high achieving black children.  

KE: Need to keep a close look at “Other Black”. There could be a variety of reasons for a dip in 

attainment in this grouping this year. Whilst Black children achieve above average at end of the 

primary stage, a concern remains about the achievement of children within the “Other Black” 

category. 

2



There is a rising trajectory in the achievement of all Black children. The question remains, however, 

why are Black British children lower achieving than other Black groups.  

AR: NREC invested money into Pilkington Report and is concerned that data is not being more widely 

communicated. 

AR: NREC has attempted to engage with Northamptonshire County Council on pupil performance. 

However, AR believes that there has been a lack of effective communication on the part of the 

County Council. 

KE: Schools hold data and this is communicated with parents. If parents have concerns about how 

their children are being educated, they should contact the head teacher. The school should provide 

attainment data. It is hard for NCC to engage with schools that have moved away from NCC control. 

With the shift away from NCC, parents should engage with the school. 

AR: This is an excellent route; however, parents need support to do that.  

JR: Attends a wide range of community events and sees that that many people are integrated. Need 

to consider when do we stop calling people “black”? It is important to consider where people come 

from and why they came to the United Kingdom. For example, East African Asians came from middle 

class backgrounds, and could integrate more easily. However other migrant groups have often come 

to the UK to work in manual occupations, and this will have had a bearing on their achievement at 

school. Accurate data can help in understanding, but statistics need to be treated carefully. 

KE: It is important to consider how people define themselves. If a child is under-achieving , it is 

important that the school deals with this.  

JR: Concerned that the good work that is done in primary schools can be undone at secondary 

schools. It is vital to learn from performance data at 11 and at 16 years of age. 

AR: examining exclusions rates is also important in helping us better understand the problem of 

attainment.  

KE:  If young people do not take GSCEs, they are not counted in the statistics.  

Jenny: There is a lack of understanding by teachers, who sometimes misinterpret how children 

respond.  

KE: to email exclusion data, providing a comparison among groups. Until a few years ago, the drop of 

attainment has been higher among Black children at GSCE level. 51% of Black British children gain A* 

- C at GSCE level, whilst the corresponding figure for White British is 56%, and the national average is 

55%. 

KE: KE is happy to discuss what the Forum can do to further support pupil attainment. 

KE: There are many websites for parents showing attainment figures. 

6. HOUSING ALLOCATIONS CONSULTATION, SHELTERED HOUSING REVIEW AND TENANCY 

STRATEGY CONSULTATION (Ian Swift, Northampton Borough Council) 

Following Ian Swift’s attendance at the last meeting, the Forum requested an opportunity for further 

consideration and feedback on the housing consultations currently being undertaken. 

3



For the Sheltered Housing Review a range of methods of consultation were used, including a paper 

questionnaire, fifty drop-in sessions (including two in the Market Square); meetings (including with 

faith and BME groups) and focus groups (500 customers). The 22% response rate is considered good.  

For the Housing Allocations Review, consultation methods included: an online survey, focus groups, 

fifty drop in sessions, two Saturday morning events at Northampton’s Market Square and 

attendance at Northampton’s Forums.  With fewer than 200 responses, the response to the online 

survey has been considered relatively low. Radical changes are being proposed in the review, with 

additional priorities for certain groups and removal of Bands C and D. This is estimated to reduce the 

register from 11,000 to about 6,000.  

Comment: There is a danger that prioritising tenants on the basis of income could have the effect of 

creating housing “ghettos”. There is a sense of admiration for the work of the Borough Council’s 

housing staff in difficult circumstances. Sorry to see people who have gone in to career in housing, 

there is a sense of bitter disappointment over what is happening in to public housing. 

IS: There is recognition that if the focus of consultation is disproportionately on the internet, many 

people will be excluded from this.  

AR: Keen to see results. Some of the things she has heard about perceptions about who gets housing 

has been drawn from the experience of people who use the One Stop Shop. People who attend the 

One Stop Shop are often disproportionately those from migrant communities. They often have 

difficulties in communicating, and are more likely to visit in person to speak with the council. 

Question: Does IS know whether people have been understanding the proposals outlined in the 

consultations? 

IS: IS believes that people do understand the issues. 

Jenny: Presented a scenario of a young couple aged 20 – 25 years, who are both working. What is 

the prospect of their being housed?  

IS: Realistically, there is no chance of being housed by this authority. There is an increasing shortage 

of housing. In this scenario, there are no specific reasons for rehousing. Housing is driven by need; 

this couple would not be in a priority category. 

7. COMMUNITY INFORMATION EXCHANGE  

Community Governance Review:  Joe Biskupski outlined the review of Community Governance 

being carried out by Northampton Borough Council at present. Joe explained that the following has 

been undertaken / is being planned:  

a. As a result of petitions, the following proposals have been agreed for consultation:  

• Proposed new parish councils for the following areas: Parklands Ward, Rectory Farm, Sunnyside 

and Obelisk Wards, West Hunsbury Ward, Westone Ward, St James Ward, Hunsbury Meadow. 

• Minor boundary changes to the following: Wootton & East Hunsbury Parish Council, Wootton & 

East Hunsbury / Collingtree Parish Councils, Hardingstone / Great Houghton Parish Councils. 

• Boundary expansion of Upton Parish Council;  

• A split of Wooton and East Hunsbury Parish into two separate parishes. 

4



b. Stage 2 Consultation consists of two parts: consultation surveys and Local Advisory Polls / 

targeted consultation. The following have been undertaken:  

• Detailed Consultation Surveys started 3 September and end 19 October (7 weeks). This was 

advertised in media, community groups, residents’ associations, community forums, etc. The 

consultation document including short survey was available from the Guildhall’s One Stop Shop, 

community centres etc. The survey was available in hardcopy or online; 

• Public drop-in sessions were held at Guildhall on 11 and 13 September;  

• In addition, proposal campaigners have circulated detailed proposals and held briefings locally; 

• Stage 2B Local Advisory Polls take place on 15 November for those residents affected by 

significant proposals; 

• Targeted consultation is being carried out for minor boundary changes  – letters are being sent 

by 15 October to each registered elector in these areas seeking their views on proposal. 

c. Report of the survey results, the Local Advisory Poll results and targeted consultation are to be 

considered by Community Governance Review Steering Group on 22 November, and final 

Council consideration and approval of proposals is scheduled for 3 December 2012. 

d. Where new / changed parishes are to be established, new parish precepts for 2013/14 are likely 

to be set by the Borough Council and communities in December 2012 / January 2013. New / 

changed parishes are likely to be set up on 1 April 2013, and new parish councillor elections are 

likely to take place in May 2013.  

Welfare Reforms: Laura Bessell, the council’s Benefit Team Leader, outlined Council Tax Benefit 

reform. The government has decided to abolish the national Council Tax Benefit scheme, and to 

replace this with local schemes devised by local authorities.  

A consultation exercise on the proposed local scheme is closing on 22 October. 

An Equality Impact Assessment is required to consider the impact of the proposals on communities. 

An impact assessment can be found on the website. A full impact assessment will be undertaken 

when the consultation has closed. 

Q: Where are we publicising the consultation?  

A:  The consultation covers the borough, and has been being publicised locally through 2 radio 

broadcasts, media announcements, consideration at forums, and discussions with external 

stakeholders. 

Comment: there is a concern that people won’t be getting what they need. 

A: Laura said that people will get different things to what they received previously.  

Q: Is the council allowed to increase council tax?  

A: During the current year, there is capping. At this stage, it is not clear under the Local Government 

Finance Act whether council tax can be increased. 

Q: Must the council introduce a local scheme?  

A: A local scheme is compulsory. 5



Comment: there is concern about a lack of understanding by people. Why would people respond to 

questionnaires that they do not understand?  

Comment: there is over-consultation among people who are most affected by changes. They have 

other priorities and may not respond to consultation, even though it may be important. 

8. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT AND FUTURE MEETINGS 

Next meeting: Scrutiny Review (Retail Experience) Consultation 

Future meetings: Education and hate crime reporting, Northampton – Alvera Friendship Group, 

Northampton Borough Council budget consultation (January 2013). 

9. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

The next meeting of the Diverse Communities Equalities Forum will take place in the Holding Room 

at the Guildhall at 22 November 2012.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6



Northampton Borough Council  

Northampton Diverse Communities Forum  

Thursday, 22 November 2012  

Minutes of meeting 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS (Chairs – Councillor Suresh Patel and John Rawlings)  

Everyone introduced themselves. Five people attended the meeting: Cllr Suresh Patel (Cllr Co-Chair), 

John Rawlings (Community Co-Chair), Mr Habibi (Afghan Community), Pauline Woodhouse 

(easi4communities, Northampton Bangladeshi Association), Joe Biskupski (Northampton Borough 

Council) (minutes) 

2. APOLOGIES  

Morcea Walker, Alaa Abouzanad. 

3. MINUTES  

In view of the number of attendees at this meeting, it was decided to defer consideration of the 

minutes. The minutes will be considered at the next meeting of DCEF on 24 January 2013. 

4. MATTERS ARISING NOT ALREADY ON THE AGENDA  

Consideration of any matters arising from the last meeting has been deferred to the next meeting of 

this forum. 

5. SCRUTINY REVIEW – RETAIL EXPERIENCE CORE QUESTIONS (Councillor Suresh Patel) 

This item was not considered. 

6. HEALTH – RACE EQUALITY ISSUES IN HEALTH SERVICES (John Rawlings)  

This item was deferred to a future meeting 

7. COMMUNITY INFORMATION EXCHANGE  

Community Governance Review:  Joe Biskupski outlined the review of Community Governance 

being carried out by Northampton Borough Council at present. Joe explained that the following has 

been undertaken / is being planned:  

a. As a result of petitions, the following proposals have been agreed for consultation:  

• Proposed new parish councils for the following areas: Parklands Ward, Rectory Farm, Sunnyside 

and Obelisk Wards, West Hunsbury Ward, Westone Ward, St James Ward, Hunsbury Meadow. 

• Minor boundary changes to the following: Wootton & East Hunsbury Parish Council, Wootton & 

East Hunsbury / Collingtree Parish Councils, Hardingstone / Great Houghton Parish Councils. 

• Boundary expansion of Upton Parish Council;  

• A split of Wooton and East Hunsbury Parish into two separate parishes. 

b. Stage 2 Consultation consists of two parts: consultation surveys and Local Advisory Polls / 

targeted consultation. The following have been undertaken:  7



• Detailed Consultation Surveys started 3 September and end 19 October (7 weeks). This was 

advertised in media, community groups, residents’ associations, community forums, etc. The 

consultation document including short survey was available from the Guildhall’s One Stop Shop, 

community centres etc. The survey was available in hardcopy or online; 

• Public drop-in sessions were held at Guildhall on 11 and 13 September;  

• In addition, proposal campaigners have circulated detailed proposals and held briefings locally; 

• Stage 2B Local Advisory Polls take place on 15 November for those residents affected by 

significant proposals; 

• Targeted consultation is being carried out for minor boundary changes  – letters are being sent 

by 15 October to each registered elector in these areas seeking their views on proposal. 

c. Report of the survey results, the Local Advisory Poll results and targeted consultation are to be 

considered by Community Governance Review Steering Group on 22 November, and final 

Council consideration and approval of proposals is scheduled for 3 December 2012. 

d. Where new / changed parishes are to be established, new parish precepts for 2013/14 are likely 

to be set by the Borough Council and communities in December 2012 / January 2013. New / 

changed parishes are likely to be set up on 1 April 2013, and new parish councillor elections are 

likely to take place in May 2013.  

Association of Northamptonshire Supplementary Schools Annual Dinner: the Association is holding 

its annual dinner at 5pm on Sunday 2 December at Fusion restaurant (145 Wellingborough Road, 

Northampton NN1 4DX). Tickets are priced at £13 per person. 

8. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT AND FUTURE MEETINGS 

Councillor Patel agreed to invite the new Police & Crime Commissioner to the next meeting of the 

DCEF. 

9. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

The next meeting of the Diverse Communities Equalities Forum will take place in the Guildhall at 24 

January 2013.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8



 

 Page 1 of 30 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Tenant Engagement Strategy 

 
2013-16 

 
 
 

Draft December 2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TENANT ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY  
 

“Working together to make a difference” 
 

Agenda Item 5

9



 

 Page 2 of 30 

 

 
 
 

TRANSLATION STRAPLINE PAGE 

10



 

 Page 3 of 30 

 

VERSION CONTROL 
 

Date  Name  Version  

24th October 2012 Ashiedu Joel / Tim Ansell 1.1 

26th November 
2012 

Ashiedu Joel / Tim Ansell  1.2 

12th December 
2012 

Ashiedu Joel  1.3 

   

   

   

11



 

 Page 4 of 30 

 

 
Contents 
 
 

 Background and Supporting Legal / Guidance Documents 5 

 Introduction 6 

 Why do we need a Tenant Engagement Strategy? 6 

 What is Tenant Engagement? 6 

 Promoting and Valuing Equality and Diversity  7 

 Aims and Objectives of the Strategy 10 

 Tenant engagement and the bigger picture 10 

 Tenants’ legal rights to involvement 12 

 Ways in which you can get involved 13 

 Tenant Engagement Service Standards 19 

 Monitoring and Review of the Strategy 23 

 Complaints and Dispute Resolution 23 

 Tenant Engagement – the future 24 

 Proposed Engagement Model for Scrutiny  27 

 
 
 

12



 

 Page 5 of 30 

 

Background and Supporting Legal / Guidance Documents 
 

• The Regulatory Framework for Social Housing in England 2010 & 2012 

• Housing & Regeneration Act 2008 

• Review of Social Housing Regulation – DCLG 2010 

• Localism Act 2011 

• Housing Act 1985 

• Equality Act 2010 

• Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

• Northampton Borough Council – “Our Approach to Equalities” 

13



 

 Page 6 of 30 

 

1. Introduction 

 
This Tenant Engagement Strategy sets out the commitment of Northampton Borough 
Council to Tenant / Customer engagement as an essential aspect of its housing service.  
Tenant engagement is characterised by constant change and the regulatory framework 
governing tenant engagement, involvement and empowerment has changed 
significantly in the last few years, placing a greater emphasis on accountability and “co-
regulation”. 
 
The Tenant Engagement Strategy 2013-16, is the first stage of turning goals into 
reality and with tenants’ involvement this should result in better decision-making and a 
quality housing service. 
 
This strategy demonstrates how Northampton Borough Council and tenants (inclusive of 
leaseholders) will work in partnership together to shape and deliver a high quality 
housing service.   
 
Northampton Borough Council has a long established commitment to engaging with its 
local communities, and recognises its responsibility to involve local people in the issues 
that affect or interest them. This will be undertaken in a way that offers choice and 
flexibility for people to become involved by offering a number of different engagement 
opportunities.  
 
It is recognised that Northampton Borough Council has a continually evolving and 
diverse customer base and as such continued efforts are needed to promote equality 
and diversity and develop links with all under-represented groups including black, 
minority and ethnic groups, young people and those with vulnerabilities or disabilities. 
 
 

2. Why do we need a Tenant Engagement Strategy? 

 
Nationally tenant engagement strategies and agreements are part of the Governments’ 
agenda to improve services for local people and place tenants at the heart of decision-
making and service delivery on issues that relate to the management of Housing stock. 
 
We want to make sure that we are transparent in our plans and that our tenants and 
leaseholders can hold us to account for the actions we take.  We feel this should be at 
the heart of our move towards co-regulation. The Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 
introduced statutory objectives aimed at empowering tenants and ensuring that they 
had the opportunities to shape services and standards (co-regulation). This will require 
a change in culture and practice, where NBC management have responsibility for 
corporate performance. This will empower tenants to shape the decision-making 
process and hold them to account for service delivery as well as setting the strategic 
direction for the authority. The development of the tenants’ scrutiny role will put tenants 
in the driving seat of setting standards and monitoring our performance against those 
standards.  Services will be more accountable to tenants.   
  
 

3. What is Tenant Engagement? 

 
Tenant engagement is about Northampton Borough Council and its tenants working 
together in partnership by involving tenants at an early stage in the decision making 

14



 

 Page 7 of 30 

 

about the services they receive or decisions that affect their homes and neighbourhood, 
ensuring that they are aligned to local expectations so as to achieve an improved 
housing service. 
 
Key to effective engagement is listening to our tenants and using their views to help us 
develop and improve the housing service provided. 
 
Effective tenant engagement is about understanding the needs, expectations, 
aspirations, achievements and experiences of Northampton Borough Council’s existing 
and prospective tenants as well as its leaseholders whilst continually improving its 
housing service as a result.  
 
 

4. Promoting and Valuing Equality and Diversity   

 
Northampton Borough Council recognises the importance of equality of opportunity for 
all our tenants. We aim to achieve equality of opportunity by ensuring commitment to 
the provision of readily accessible services and facilities and by encouraging 
engagement practices which take account of the diversity of groups and individuals. We 
will strive to ensure that our engagement activities are inclusive to all in accordance with 
the Equality Act 2010 and free from discrimination on the grounds of age, disability, 
gender and gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation. 
 
Northampton Borough Council monitors the profile of it tenants. The breakdown of the 
key groups as at September 2012 is as follows: - 
 

Ethnicity % Of tenant base 

White British 69.7% 

Black or Black British 8.62 % 

White Other 12.99% 

Asian or Asian British 2.04% 

Mixed race 1.90  % 

Other  4.78  % 

Age  

16-25 6.29 % 

25-40 26.82% 

41-64 40.73 % 

65+ 26.16 % 

Employment  

Full-time – 30 hrs> 16.33 % 

Part-time - < 30 hrs 7.47% 

Retired 38.48 % 

Unemployed 16.21 % 

Unable to work (medical/disability/carers) 20.69 % 

Student or Government training scheme 0.81 % 

Disability  

Yes 31.22% 

No 68.78 % 

 
 

15



 

 Page 8 of 30 

 

Local evidence has shown that Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) tenants as well as 
young tenants are significantly “under-represented” at most levels of tenant 
engagement. To help address this issue, resources have been identified to support 
projects aimed at encouraging active engagement across tenure in all communities 
within the Borough. 
 
In May 2010 Northampton Borough Council established a Black, Minority Ethnic (BME) 
forum. This was developed with the primary aim of ensuring that the needs and views of 
BME tenants and residents are clearly heard and considered when 
developing/reviewing-housing services provided by Northampton Borough Council. 
 
This forum plays a crucial role in the monitoring of the BME Housing Strategy and 
developing ways in which they can influence service delivery. New members are always 
welcome at the forum meetings and further details can be obtained from either the 
Community Engagement or Customer Engagement Teams if required and 
arrangements will be made to ensure that tenants receive language and communication 
support to actively participate in the forum. 
 
A young tenant’s forum was introduced in 2010 following the delivery of our annual 
“Helping Hands” life skills programme for young tenants aged 16-25 years. The forum 
provides young tenants with an opportunity to voice their opinions and influence housing 
services. It is acknowledged that innovative methods of engagement may be required to 
ensure the fullest engagement of this particular group. 
 
Northampton Borough Council also has an active Sheltered Housing forum, meeting 
quarterly with residents who have volunteered to represent their sheltered housing 
neighbours and provide us with feedback and suggestions for improvement. 
 
Since 2011 we have been working on a review of our services and during the summer 
commenced consultation with customers in sheltered and general needs 
accommodation about proposed changes. With the help of sheltered tenants we are 
now developing plans for the new service. Tenant representation by way of a sounding 
board has been in place since the commencement of the review in 2011.   
 
New members are always warmly welcomed at this forum and the meetings offer a 
chance for residents to be involved in measuring and influencing service delivery.  Any 
new members wishing to be involved should contact the Sheltered Housing Team on 
01604 838236 for further details. 
 
 
Equal opportunity Promise  

L We will provide information for tenants in other languages and formats such as 
audio or large print where tenants need it. 

L  We will provide information in ways that are easy to understand for tenants with 
limited reading skills and / or learning difficulties where a need is identified by 
working with local agencies. 

L Hearing loops and signers will be available at meetings 
L Meetings will be held at venues that are accessible to all 
L We will monitor the profile information of tenants to enable us deliver services 

that meet their needs.  
 

16



 

 Page 9 of 30 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tenant Engagement Benefits 
 

 Ensuring high levels of tenant satisfaction with their homes and neighbourhoods 
 

 Learning from our tenants’ experiences as service users to inform the continuous 
improvement of housing services 

 
 Increased number of tenants involved in engagement activities 

 
 Development of our services so that they become more appropriate to tenants’ 

individual and collective needs 
 

 Ensuring that services are delivered in a more efficient and cost-effective 
manner. 

 
 Tenants are able to provide scrutiny and challenge to the way in which the 

Housing Service is delivered within Northampton. 
 

 Ensuring that tenants are involved in making decisions that affect them and the 
community in which they live 

 
 Enabling Northampton Borough Council staff and tenants to be more aware of 

each other’s perspectives and organisational/financial limitations 
 

 Breaking down misunderstanding between NBC and tenants and also building 
mutual respect and understanding 

 Enhancing tenants skills, knowledge, confidence and quality of life  

 

Achievements 

Needs 

Tenant 

Engagement 

Experiences 

Aspirations Expectations 

17



 

 Page 10 of 30 

 

 

5. Aims and Objectives of the Strategy 

 
Aims  
 

• To set out our approach to tenant involvement including the reasons why we 
seek to involve tenants 

• To set out ways in which we will enable and encourage tenants to be actively 
involved and demonstrate that tenants are part of the continuous service review 
and improvement process 

• To be innovative in our approach to involvement to achieve equality and diversity 
in the services we provide and the opportunities we offer ensuring that all 
tenants, regardless of particular circumstances or difficulties, have access to the 
same rights of engagement and consultation 

• To ensure that we meet all statutory requirements demonstrating best practice in 
accordance with government legislation and guidance.  

 

Objective One 
Make tenant and leaseholder engagement an integral part of our business by 
involving and consulting tenants to shape services to meet their needs 

Objective Two 
Ensure that we are fully inclusive and provide opportunities to widen 
engagement by offering a range of ways that tenants and leaseholders can get 
involved, at a level and pace that is accessible to all 

Objective Three 
To provide and support training and development opportunities to enable all 
tenants to make a difference 

Objective Four 
To maximise accountability and value for money to ensure that tenants have 
confidence in our services 

 
 

6. Tenant engagement and the bigger picture…. 

 
Tenant engagement should not be seen in isolation, but as an integral part of the way 
we operate as a landlord.  This strategy links in with other relevant strategies and 
national priorities: - 
 

♦ Changing national and local agenda for tenant engagement 
 
The national agenda for tenant engagement has changed considerably since the 
introduction of the Tenant Services Authority (TSA) and the Regulatory Framework for 
Social Housing, with tenant empowerment and involvement being placed at the heart of 
the Governments drive to ensure the delivery of quality housing services to all who rent 
from social housing landlords. 
 
 The Tenant Services Authority (TSA) was launched on 1 December 2008 and given a 
directive from central government to adopt co-regulation; this was subsequently defined 
in the Social Housing Regulatory Framework which introduced six standards in 2010 
and then seven standards in 2012 (listed below).  The Regulatory Framework 
emphasises the roles of both the housing landlord and their tenants in working together 

18



 

 Page 11 of 30 

 

to raise standards of housing services, with tenants involved in scrutiny to hold the 
landlord to account.  
 

STANDARD INCLUDES 

Consumer Standards  

Tenant Involvement & Empowerment � Customer service, choice, 
complaints 

� Involvement/empowerment 
� Understanding and responding to 

the diverse needs of tenants 

Home � Quality of accommodation 
� Repairs and maintenance 

Tenancy � Allocations and mutual exchanges 
� Tenure 

Neighbourhood and community � Neighbourhood management  
� Local area co-operation 
� Anti-social behaviour 

Economic Standards 

Value for money � Value for money 

Governance and financial viability 
(Does not apply to Local Authorities) 

� Governance/financial viability 

Rent  � Rent  

 
From April 2012 the responsibility for regulation passed from the TSA to the Homes and 
Community agency (HCA).  
 
The HCA as the new social housing regulator expects tenants to play a key role in 
assessing their landlord’s performance and holding them to account for any weakness 
or poor performance in service delivery. It also expects Landlords to take responsibility 
in ensuring that tenants can and do play a key role in improving performance and 
services delivered. 
 
This new approach introduced by the HCA means that landlords and tenants regulate 
performance and service improvement together, with the HCA only intervening when 
there is evidence of serious failure or detriment by the landlord.  
 
 Northampton Borough Council is fully committed to working with all national agencies, 
to ensure that our tenants can shape, influence and monitor the services we provide. 
 
Furthermore we are committed to ensuring that tenants are kept informed about future 
national changes that affect the management of their homes and are able to become 
involved and influence events and opportunities relating to the changing national 
agenda for tenant engagement. 
 

♦ Northampton Borough Council Corporate Plan  

The Tenant Engagement Strategy has strong links and is consistent with the priorities of 
the current Council Corporate Plan in particular:  Priority 5-Better Homes for the 
Future, Priority 6-Creating Empowered Communities and Priority 8- responding to 
your needs. 
 

19



 

 Page 12 of 30 

 

♦ Northampton Borough Council Housing Strategy and Housing Asset 
Management Strategy  

These Strategies set out the plan on how housing growth will be delivered through the 
provision of more affordable homes. They also detail how the Council will invest in its 
own stock to improve quality and meet the national Decent Homes Standard. Copies of 
the two documents are available via the council’s website www.northampton.gov.uk and 
offer greater detail of proposed actions for tackling the housing issues and challenges 
faced by residents of Northampton over the forthcoming years. 
 

♦ Northampton Borough Council Community Engagement Strategy  

The Community Engagement Strategy 2009 and associated Consultation Toolkit are 
intended as a guide and support to policy making, encouraging better community 
engagement, empowerment and increased cohesion.  

 

♦  Northampton Borough Council Vulnerable Tenant Strategy  

The vulnerable tenants strategy, aims to assist vulnerable tenants sustain their 
tenancies and live independently in the community. The strategy aims to identify 
vulnerability at an early stage, and ensures that where required support plans are 
developed as well as the provision of advice, support and signposting to other agencies 
where appropriate. 
 

♦ Customer Excellence Strategy  

The Customer Excellence Strategy (2009-12) sets out how we plan to transform the 
way in which customers’ access our services. The Strategy sets out our plans to work 
with our customers to understand their needs, offer help at the first point of contact by 
keeping them informed and providing excellent customer service. 
 
 

♦ Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults Policy 

The Customer Engagement team will show due regard to this policy when involving 
tenants through various engagement activities. 
 
Copies of all of the above strategies are available at www.Northampton.gov.uk or see 
http://northampton.gov.uk/homepage/327/council_policies 

 
 

7. Tenant legal rights to involvement 

 
Northampton Borough Council as the landlord has statutory duties, obligations and 
responsibilities that are detailed in every tenancy agreement. Tenants have both 
statutory rights in law as defined by legislation and guidelines as well as contractual 
rights outlined in tenancy agreements/leases. 
 
Tenant’s rights and responsibilities are acknowledged and fully explained in the tenants 
Handbook.   
 
There are a number of legal obligations in relation to tenant engagement. Tenants both 
individually and collectively have a number of legal rights. These include: - 
  

20



 

 Page 13 of 30 

 

� The Right to be consulted (individual) – Tenants have the right to be consulted 
individually on housing management changes likely to affect them substantially 
(Section 105 Housing Act 1985) 

 
� Right to information (individual) – Tenants have the right to information about the 

terms of their tenancy, the repairing obligations of their landlord, the anti-social 
behaviour policy, and allocations policy amongst other items. 

 
� Right to manage (collective) – Northampton Borough Councils’ tenants have the 

right to take over the management of their homes providing that they meet 
certain criteria. To do this they would have to set up a Tenants Management 
Organisation (TMO), which takes on a package of Housing Management 
responsibility for an estate after entering into a management agreement with the 
Landlord. 

 
Whilst some tenants may choose not to get involved, the Council still has a legal duty to 
keep them informed. 
 

8. Ways in which you can get involved  
 
The many differing methods of involvement that Northampton Borough Council use to 
ensure effective engagement with our tenants is demonstrated by the Ladder of 
Engagement below 
 
 
 THE BUILDING BLOCKS OF INVOLVEMENT 
 
 

 

 

Empowerment 

Engagement 

Involvement 

Consultation 

Information 

� Empowerment: The Council delegates 
various aspects of management to 
tenants 

 
� Engagement: Working together. The 

Council and tenants decide together on 
what is best and work in partnership to 
carry out the work. 

 
� Involvement: Deciding together. The 

Council encourages additional options 
and ideas from tenants and provides 
opportunities for joint decision-making. 

 
� Consultation: The Council offers options 

and listens to feedback, and may change 
proposals. 

 
� Information: The Council informs 

tenants on the outcomes of proposed 
plans, supplying relevant information on 
any changes. 

21



 

 Page 14 of 30 

 

It is recognised that people want to give their views or be involved in different ways. As 
a result a number of ways in which tenants can get involved and participate are offered 
by Northampton Borough Council. 
 
It is acknowledged that to become involved tenants have to be confident that 
engagement will be effective and meaningful. To ensure this, the Council will commit 
that the following standards are adhered to: - 
 

♦ Effective communications – with all sides listening and clearly expressing their 
views 

♦ Jargon free, accessible information –assigning a reader friendly logo to all tenant 
reviewed materials  

♦ Give a clear indication of the time commitment required of residents 

♦ Action taken on recommendations and feedback provided to those who got 
involved 

♦ Well planned meetings, timetabled in advance, avoiding duplication 

♦ An effective system of support for active tenants 
 
Below are a number of options available to tenants as to how they may get involved. 
The list is not intended to be an exhaustive one, as new mechanisms will be developed 
to offer maximum choice and opportunities for people to participate.  
 

CURRENT INVOLVEMENT 
METHOD 

EXPLANATION 

 
 

Engagement 
Working together. The Council and tenants decide together on what is best and 

work in partnership to carry out the work. 

 
Contract selection, 
monitoring and steering 
groups 

 
Useful for:  Recommending the selection of contractors 
for specific capital work programmes to council homes 
and subsequent monitoring of performance and 
adherence to contract. 
 
Key features: Enables tenant involvement to be central 
to the process of contractor selection and performance. 
Tenants are able to assist officers to ensure that work 
contracts are managed effectively and deliver effective 
outcomes to those concerned. 
 
Commitment level: 2 – 3 hours, once a month 
 
Examples of its use – Decent Homes Programmes, Gas 
Contract Monitoring. 

 
Tenant Review Panels / 
Tenant Auditors 

 
Useful for: Tenants and the council work together to 
improve specific areas of the housing service and also 
identify areas of good practice.   
 
Key features: Tenants consider the strategies, policies 
procedures and performance relating to specific service 

22



 

 Page 15 of 30 

 

areas and produce a report on their findings to officers 
making recommendations regarding service 
improvements. The report covers both written and 
oral/visual presentation options, to senior housing 
managers.  Each inspection/audit takes approximately 6 - 
9 months. 
 
Commitment level: 2 – 4 hours, per month, plus 
additional reading and training time to enable 
familiarisation with service area. 
 
Example of its use – ASB review, Voids review, Rents 
review. 

 

Involvement 
Deciding together. The Council encourages additional options and ideas from 

tenants and provides opportunities for joint decision-making. 

 
Estate Walkabouts 

  
Useful for: Meeting with your Housing Officer and 
representatives from other agencies who work in your 
area to identify issues that could be improved. 
 
Key features: Having an influence on what is undertaken 
to improve the local community.  Getting local 
environmental issues resolved/dealt with. 
 
Commitment level: 2 – 3 hours, for each walkabout and 
between 2 – 4 estate walkabouts per year in each area. 

 
Mystery Shopping 

 
Useful for: Inspecting housing to make sure that they 
meet published standards. 
 
Key features: An opportunity to help identify 
improvements to services 
 
Commitment level: 5 – 7 days per shop per year. 

 

Consultation 
The Council offers options and listens to feedback, and may change proposals. 

 
Area Tenant Panels 
 

 
Useful for: Enabling tenants and leaseholders to be 
consulted on an area basis of housing issues that may 
affect them.  To inform the Housing Directorate of their 
views and opinions on the quality and nature of the 
service delivered. Tenants from across the Borough are 
able to discuss issues, put forward recommendations to 
housing staff. 
Key features: Quarterly meetings held in the 4 housing 
management areas and attended by Housing Directorate 
officers. Residents from across the Borough are able to 
influence what is important for all residents of 
Northampton Borough Council 

23



 

 Page 16 of 30 

 

 
Commitment level: 2 – 3 hours, quarterly in each area. 

 
Customer Feedback 

 
Useful for:  Helps Housing to identify areas for 
improvement and also how we are performing via our 
complaints and compliments system. 
 
Key features:  Open and available to any resident at any 
time. 
 
Commitment level: according to corporate guidelines. 
Time commitment and outcomes are dependent on each 
case.  

 
Conferences/Seminars 

 
Useful for:  Gaining knowledge and information on 
national initiatives.  Learning how other geographical 
areas provide services.  Learning how Housing provides 
services. 
 
Key features:  Allows a wider audience from the total 
tenant population, to find out more information about 
housing and housing related issues in Northampton and 
the rest of the country. 
 
Commitment level: Will vary, depending on event. Could 
be up to one day. 

 
Focus Groups 

 
Useful for:  Gives tenants the opportunity to give their 
views on one specific topic. 
 
Key features:  No additional work involved.  Meetings 
should not be any longer than approximately 2 hours. 
 
Commitment level: Take part as and when held, 2 - 3 
hours duration. 

  
Open Meetings on “stand-
alone” issues 

 
Useful for:  Tenants to put forward their views and 
opinions to council officers on “stand-alone” issues e.g. 
spending priorities, choice of kitchen units, bathroom 
suites etc. Local communities discussing issues, 
recommendations and improvements with housing 
representatives 
Key features:  Enables tenants to have choice and 
influence to determine priorities for their 
home/communities.  Depending on the project, it may 
mean attendance at more than one meeting. 
 
Commitment level: Take part as and when held, 2 - 3 
hours duration. 

 
Specialist Forums 

 
Useful for:  Gives tenants from hard to reach groups a 
collective voice. 

24



 

 Page 17 of 30 

 

 
Key features:  Similar to focus groups but focuses on 
engaging with tenants who are hard to reach or seldom 
heard from.  For example tenants aged 16 to 25 years, 
vulnerable or disabled tenants, black and minority ethnic 
tenants, leaseholders and sheltered housing residents. 
 
Commitment level: 2 - 3 hours, quarterly 

 
Surveys/Questionnaires 

 
Useful for:  Providing us with written feedback on 
particular and/or specialist areas.  The information is 
helpful in redesigning or developing new services. 
 
Key features:  An opportunity for tenants to give their 
views on our services and performance, and to influence 
future planning. 
 
Commitment level: Will vary depending on topic of 
consultation. 

 

Information 
The Council tells tenants what they are going to do. 

 
Information, Handbooks 
and Leaflets 

 
Useful for:  Keeping tenants up to date.  Easy access to 
information about services. 
 
Key features:  Tenancy/repairs handbooks are provided 
to all tenants when they move in.  These provide advice 
on rights, responsibilities and how to report faults.  Other 
leaflets are available from the One Stop Shop or on-line 
 
Commitment level: Variable 

 
Local Information Notices 

 
Useful for:  Finding out what is happening in your area.  
Sometimes these are directly delivered to tenants’ homes 
or more often notices will be posted in the One Stop Shop 
(Guildhall) and other community outlets (local shops, 
Community Centres etc.). 
 
Key features:  Information provided could include 
invitations to events where tenants can discuss plans for 
their local area / neighbourhood. 
  
Commitment level: Variable 

 
Newsletters 

 
Useful for:  Keeping you up to date on what is happening 
both in Housing and your area and providing information 
on our performance. 
 
Key features:  Produced 3 times per year and sent to all 
tenants.  Tenants can be involved as part of the Editorial 
Panel, or they can send articles to the tenant 

25



 

 Page 18 of 30 

 

representatives in the local areas. 
 
Commitment level: 4 - 5 hours, quarterly 

 
Tenant Sounding Board 

 
Useful for:  Letting us know which ways tenants want to 
be involved and when they are available to work with us 
to improve the service 
 
Key features:  Tenants are able to choose how they  
become involved and with which part of the service 
 
Commitment level: Will vary dependent on which 
activities the tenant is involved in. 

 
 
 

26



 

  Author: A. Joel / T. Ansell 
 Page 19 of 30 
 

 

9. Tenant Engagement Service Standards 

 
The Council has developed three core standards to ensure that tenants that are able 
can participate and contribute effectively and that they know what to expect from the 
Council when they get involved.  
The standards cover the following areas: - 
 

 Standards for resources/support 
 Standards for meetings 
 Standards for information 

 
 
9.1. Standards for Resources/Support - what Tenants can expect from the Council to 
enable full engagement 
 
Practical and financial resources are offered to enable tenants to participate in an 
effective manner. These resources include financial assistance, training, advice and 
practical support.  

 
To help tenants who wish to participate/get involved, the following is provided: 
 

 A dedicated Customer Engagement team who work to support and develop 
tenant engagement at all levels 

 
 A detailed menu of involvement  

 
 Training for tenants  

 
 Tenant Engagement Standards (from national framework) 

 
 Reimbursement of out of pocket expenses for attending housing management 

meetings and events; this includes transport costs and carer costs. Full details can 
be obtained from the expenses policy leaflet 

 
Also with a wide range of information relating to housing and other council services all 
of the above information can be found on the Councils website at 
www.northampton.gov.uk or by contacting the Customer Engagement team on 01604-
837836 or via email participation@northampton.gov.uk   
 
 
9.1.a Tenant Training 
 
An extensive training programme for interested tenants is available that has been 
designed to equip tenants with the skills and knowledge necessary to engage effectively 
in all areas of Tenant Engagement. The training programme was developed as a result 
of a tenant survey and follow up workshop. Examples of the types of training 
undertaken are listed below 
 

 Antisocial behaviour 
 Equality and diversity for tenants 
 Allocations and Lettings 

27



 

 Page 20 of 30 

 

 Rents / Housing finance 
 Repairs and Maintenance 
 How local government works 
 Data Protection & Freedom of information 
 Health and safety (around the home) 
 Healthy Eating (practical session) 
 Managing your money 
 Helping Hands – life skills training for 16-25 year olds 

 
A tenant-working group will be established to work with the Councils’ Customer 
Engagement team to identify and prioritise future tenant-training needs. This group will 
also evaluate and review the quality and usefulness of the training previously delivered 
and makes proposals for future courses. An annual training plan will be published and 
promoted. 
 
9.1.b. Resources for tenant engagement 
 
There is a specific annual budget identified for tenant engagement projects, which 
particularly aim to broaden involvement by tenants across the borough.  
The Council employs a specialist team to support and lead on tenant engagement 
activities within the Housing Directorate, the structure is detailed below 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In addition to this team all officers across the Council have a key role to play in 
delivering effective engagement, examples of this include housing officers attending and 
supporting local tenants and residents associations and organising local estate 
walkabouts.  
 
The Leasehold Officer supports the Leaseholders Forum and works in partnership with 
leaseholders to improve the service they receive from the Borough Council.  The 
Sheltered Housing Co-ordinators support the Sheltered Tenants Forum. 
 
9.1.c. Reimbursement of out of pocket expenses  

 
Northampton Borough Council will reimburse out of pocket expenses incurred by 
tenants when attending events and meetings at the Council’s request in line with its 
expenses policy. 
 

Customer Engagement 
Team Leader 

Housing Services 
Manager 

Customer Engagement 
Officer 

Customer Engagement 
Officer 

Customer Engagement 
Admin Officer 

28



 

 Page 21 of 30 

 

The Council may reimburse you for childcare costs, carers’ costs and travel costs. 
Further details on the policy are available on request by contacting the Customer 
Engagement team on 01604 837836 or email: participation@northampton.gov.uk  
 
Payments will only be made when incurred with the agreement of the Council’s 
Customer Engagement Team or a nominated officer, and in accordance with published 
rates (which are subject to change). 
    
 
9.2. Standard for meetings - What tenants can expect when attending engagement 
meetings held by the Council  
 
Meetings play an important part in the delivery of an effective engagement framework 
but it is recognized that meetings are not always well attended and continued efforts are 
required to encourage high turnout 
 
It is important that when attending a meeting tenants feel that by attending they will not 
only be listened to but also that there will be visible outcomes.  
  
To be effective, Northampton Borough Council will ensure that meetings: 
 

♦ Have clear terms of reference 

♦ Adhere to a code of conduct 

♦ Have arrangements for reporting back outcomes and feedback to attendees 

♦ Have a clear agenda and associated papers supplied a minimum of 7 days before 
the meeting. We will try as much as possible to avoid tabling papers at the 
meeting 

♦ Be held at venues, which, wherever possible, are suitable for disabled people and 
are held at times which are convenient and accessible.  

♦ Be effectively chaired, and conducted in a fair and democratic way so that 
everyone gets a chance to have their say 

♦ Have arrangements to support attendees with for example out of pocket 
expenses, and support for tenants with special needs e.g. interpreters. 

♦ Action points will be communicated when and where appropriate to all interested 
parties. 

 
 
9.3. Standard for information - What tenants can expect when receiving information 
from the Council 
 
Northampton Borough Council aims to provide up-to-date, relevant information at the 
right time to ensure that tenant engagement is effective. 
 
Information is given for a variety of reasons; to help develop ideas, keep tenants 
informed about decisions taken, advise people of meetings or to seek views on 
proposals. 
 
Information is the first level of involvement. We want you to know what is going on, how 
to obtain further information and how to participate if you are interested. 
 

29



 

 Page 22 of 30 

 

Tenants housed by Northampton Borough Council have a range of diverse needs with 
regards to how they would like to receive information.  As a result the core standards for 
information provided by Northampton Borough Council - 
 

♦  Will give a consistent message to tenants without unnecessary repetition or 
duplication 

♦ Will be in plain language, free from jargon and in an accessible print type 

♦  Will be made available in other formats on request. 
  
A variety of methods to distribute and obtain information will be used. These will include 
posters, e-mail, “drop-in” sessions, meetings, home visits and letters. 
 
Information can be provided in different languages and formats for example Braille and 
audiotape by contacting the Housing Customer Service Helpline 0300 330 7000.   
 
In order to ensure documents provide information in a tenant friendly way, the Plain 
English group has been established. Members of this group read through documents 
and publications to make sure they are: 
 

♦ In plain language and easy to read 

♦ Free from jargon and unnecessary complex words 

♦ Achieve their purpose 

♦ Well organised and the layout is appropriate 

♦ Tailored to a tenant audience  
 
Documents and publications that are looked at and approved by the Tenant plain 
English group will display a reader friendly logo confirming this (see below).  
 

 
  
Northampton Borough Council produces information, which is available to all tenants.  
Below are the main publications and leaflets we provide and how often tenants should 
receive them. 
 

Type of publication Frequency Who receives it 
My Home 
 

3 times a year – 
Summer, Spring & 
Autumn / Winter editions 

All tenants and leaseholders of 
NBC 

Tenants Handbook and 
Repairs Handbook 

Once when you start your 
tenancy 

New tenants 

‘What to do if+’ leaflets 
 

On request Leaflets are available to collect 
from the One Stop Shop, upon 
request and on the NBC website 

Annual Report Once a year All tenants and leaseholders 

New tenants sign up pack 
 

Once when you start your 
tenancy 

New tenants 

Tenant Engagement Strategy 
and Agreement 

Every 3 years All tenants and leaseholders 

30



 

 Page 23 of 30 

 

 

10. Monitoring and Reviewing this Strategy 

 
It is important that this strategy is successful and Northampton Borough Council are 
committed to ensure that the targets set as part of the action plan from this strategy are 
achieved and the quality of services offered in relation to engagement continues to 
improve. 
 
The Strategy and action plan will be monitored and reviewed on a regular basis (yearly 
in the case of the action plan), this will ensure that it not only remains current, relevant 
and achievable, but also continues to meet the broader aims and objectives of the 
Council, its tenants and its partners.  
 
Effective Monitoring of the TES 2013-16 will ensure its success. Monitoring will: - 
 

 Identify poor performance and proffer solutions to improving performance 
 Receive progress reports and updates on each of the 4 Tenant Engagement 
objectives 

 Highlight emerging trends for future service planning  
 Assess the number of policy and process changes / improvements due to the 
involvement of tenants. 

 Assess our performance against each of the actions in the action plan. 
 
 
The Tenant Engagement Strategy will be monitored using the following methods: 
 

♦ Quarterly review meetings with the Tenant scrutiny panel with responsibility for 
engagement   

♦ Quarterly performance publicised in My Home tenants’ magazine 

♦ Annual performance reported in the Tenants Annual report 

♦ An annual impact assessment of the strategy   

♦ Housing services satisfaction survey  

♦ Housing performance indicators for customer engagement 

♦ Northampton Borough Council’s Local offers to tenants (tenant involvement / 
empowerment standard) 

 
All Information will be analysed to make sure that the needs, views, opinions and 
priorities of tenants are taken into account. 
 
 

11. Complaints and Disputes about the TES 2013-16  

 
 

♦ A complaint in this strategy is defined as dissatisfaction with the performance 
standard of service received. 

♦ A dispute is defined as a difference in opinion about how a policy or standard is 
being implemented and the two parties cannot achieve a resolution which satisfies 
both parties 

 
The Council have general customer feedback procedures outlined in a document called 
“Complaints, Compliments and Comments” which is available from Customer Services 
on 01604-837441 or via email customerfeedback@northampton.gov.uk  . This 

31



 

 Page 24 of 30 

 

procedure encourages compliments, suggestions and complaints and should be used 
for all of services provided by the Housing Directorate including this agreement. 
 
The National framework for tenant engagement compacts recommends that complaints 
should be dealt with at the lowest possible level. If individual tenants feel that the 
service received doesn’t meet the standards outlined in this strategy e.g. insufficient 
notice for meetings, then in the first instance they should speak to the department or 
section responsible. If they don’t receive a satisfactory response then they should write 
to the Customer Engagement Team at Northampton Borough Council or email: 
participation@northampton.gov.uk. Any such complaints will be investigated and dealt 
with under the complaints policy, which can be viewed or accessed via the council’s 
website www.northampton.gov.uk in the feedback section. 
 
The Localism Act 2011 proposes changes to complaint handling from April 2013; the 
change is in the introduction of Democratic Filters or Designated Persons. In simple 
terms this means that once the Northampton Borough Council corporate complaints 
system is exhausted rather than the next step being referral to the Ombudsman there 
would be a newly introduced level i.e. the “Designated Person” whereby a complainant 
would have to refer their complaint to a designated person before it could be referred to 
the Ombudsman. This designated person could be a Member of Parliament (an MP), a 
Local Councillor or a designated tenant panel. 
 
The purpose of the designated person is to strengthen: 
 
1. The local democratic process and accountability. The proposals to introduce a 

democratic filter are designed to put local people in greater control of driving up 
standards of social housing management and resolving most failings.   

2. The knowledge of local representatives’ in resolving housing complaints. The 
proposals give a greater role for locally elected representatives to resolve housing 
problems in their area. 

3. The speed of resolution of disputes at the local level.  Local representatives are 
expected to understand local issues and to be well placed to work with landlords to 
resolve complaints more quickly by avoiding the need to go to the Ombudsman. 

 
The proposed scrutiny system once fully developed is sufficiently flexible to      
accommodate the tenant panel aspect of the Democratic filter and it is proposed that 
the overarching scrutiny panel will undertake the role. 
 
 

12. Tenant Engagement – the future 

 
In order to meet the identified aims and objectives of this strategy an annual action plan 
will be produced. Tenant engagement is a fast moving area for national and local policy 
and as such this annual action plan will be produced and published on the Engagement 
section of Northampton Borough Council’s website.   
 
The action plan will outline all of the key actions that are necessary to ensure that the 
Council is fully compliant with legal, regulatory and best practice requirements in 
relation to tenant engagement and ensures that tenant engagement remains high profile 
and a key driver for its current improvement journey. 
 

32



 

 Page 25 of 30 

 

 It will capture in specific detail how the Council aims to be more inclusive, involving 
more tenants, shape services around tenant’s priorities and identified need, achieve 
local offers, introduce scrutiny /performance arrangements and undertake a range of 
additional innovative measures to ensure the delivery of the four objectives of this 
agreement. 
 
Aligned to the achievement of all of the actions is the embedding of an engagement 
culture throughout the Council, whereby engagement is considered a key part of every 
officer’s daily routine. This will ensure that we are successful in delivering effective 
outcomes and enabling more opportunities and choice for tenants to participate in a 
meaningful way.  
 
The publication of the regulatory framework for social housing places a clear 
expectation on NBC that we have a system of robust tenant scrutiny in place, which 
provides a system of customer challenge and genuine tenant input in the development 
and improvement of Housing Services at Northampton. 
 
The concept of resident-led self-regulation and scrutiny has been developed with the 
aim of giving tenants more influence over the priorities and performance of their landlord 
an approach that this agreement fully supports and by its design allows it to be 
delivered. 
 
Put simply this is an approach where residents’ priorities, views and engagement with 
relevant processes are at the heart of Northampton Borough Council frameworks for 
directing, accounting for, monitoring, assessing and modifying their own behaviour and 
performance.  
 
If we are to deliver a structure that not only supports this method of engagement and 
additionally meets and exceeds the Government guidelines in relation to Tenant led 
self-regulation, then a system of effective Tenant Scrutiny panels are central to 
achieving this. 
 
Once established effective Tenant Scrutiny will result in internal processes at NBC that 
not only support challenges of performance but also give our tenants the power to 
challenge service delivery but also drive change; done effectively this will in turn result 
in improved processes and better quality housing services being delivered to NBC 
customers. 
 
In order to ensure effective tenant scrutiny at Northampton Borough Council we have to 
establish arrangements that not only build on the good work produced in previous years 
by tenant engagement but also deliver a structure that best suits our local situation.  
 
To achieve this we have taken into account good practice models available nationally 
but the newness of the Scrutiny panel initiative means that at present it is still in an 
emerging stage and there are no hard and fast rules regarding its introduction and as a 
result we will be able to develop a structure that fits the requirements of NBC rather 
than making our service delivery model meet a national or regional framework / model. 
The result of this will be that the final model is most effective for Northampton and best 
meets and serves the needs of its tenants.   
 
When developing the Northampton model of tenant scrutiny there are a number of key 
steps that have to be fully considered these are:  
 

33



 

 Page 26 of 30 

 

� Building in self-determination – For scrutiny to be fully effective then tenants have to 
lead on scrutiny, with the panel being able to set their own priorities. They will achieve 
this by looking at areas they consider most important, asking for and receiving 
information, and reporting findings themselves. The biggest change likely to arise from 
this element is that tenants who have previously been passive become proactive when 
undertaking a scrutiny role as they will be expected to present findings and make 
recommendations. 
  
� Getting  ‘buy in’ from members, staff and tenants – scrutiny will only work well if 
tenants not only want it, but equally are able to see the benefit of becoming involved 
both of which will be supported by senior management/elected member’s respecting 
and demonstrating respect for and valuing the scrutiny role performed by tenants. 
  
� Making sure recruitment and the composition of the scrutiny group suit the 
circumstances faced by NBC – The success of the model is largely based on 
establishing panels that work effectively and command confidence.  To deliver this the 
recruitment processes and subsequent involvement levels of the tenants involved will 
make or break the success of Scrutiny. If the panel is to be fully successful it needs to 
be representative of the wider tenant body. 
  
� Identification of the skill sets required by tenants and supporting this with targeted 
quality training – good scrutiny requires particular skills and knowledge; this includes 
things such as the ability to phrase scrutiny questions and obtain answers. In order to 
fully develop this aspect of the scrutiny approach it will be necessary to undertake a full 
skills audit of interested tenants and follow this up with appropriate training, this will in 
turn ensure that the panel can be effective.  
 
� Be clear on the structures and powers from the outset – clarity on how things link 
together, what can and cannot be achieved, and where to obtain particular responses to 
enquiries can determine the effectiveness of scrutiny.  
 
If scrutiny is to deliver the maximum benefit then it needs to become an embedded part 
of the culture at NBC and the following will be the key characteristics of genuine tenant 
led scrutiny 
 
� Independence from other governance and management structures.  

� Formality in operation.  

� Power for residents to challenge and effect change.  

 
 Independence means that the people who control the scrutiny and intervention of 
resident-led self-regulation are not the same people who manage the Housing Service. 
This allows for another perspective from management to complement or challenge 
views held and scrutiny will not be influenced by those with a preferred direction for the 
Service.  
 
 Formality gives confidence and legitimacy to the scrutiny role. It also gives residents 
confidence that they are justified in asking for information and the activities will be taken 
into account. Formality can and should be achieved by prescribing structures, remit and 
roles at the outset. The introduction of a scrutiny panel takes this particular area of 
engagement away from the informal consultation traditionally employed at Northampton 
in regards to engagement to a more formal scrutiny role.  

34



 

 Page 27 of 30 

 

 
 Power is important in making scrutiny an effective partnership of equals and those 
managing the housing service. Without power scrutiny activities can be simply a 
consultative process, which the landlord does not have to take any notice of and will 
quickly become ineffective and lose the support of tenants.  
 

 

13.  Proposed engagement model for scrutiny  

 
The intention of the new structure proposed is to be an inclusive one, giving weight to 
tenants views assessments and priorities whilst ensuring that all who wish to be 
involved are accommodated at one or more of the different levels within the structure 
and that way the potentially divisive issue of elections is avoided and tenants self-select 
the role they feel most comfortable operating at.    
 
An advantage of this approach is that it would counter, to some effect; tenant burnout by 
spreading the load amongst more tenants and also give a larger pool of committed and 
trained tenants and avoid domination by a small number of tenants. 
 
The new structure will see the establishment of up to 5 scrutiny panels each of which 
would cover a specific area of service delivery. The exact number of panels will be 
confirmed once levels of interest are established. The structure is flexible enough to 
allow additional panels to be established or disbanded as and when required.  
 
Once established the panel members would elect a chair and these chairs would then 
become the overarching scrutiny board/group with the additional function of acting as 
the tenant aspect of the democratic filter (designated person role) once this is 
established at NBC as part of the localism act.  
 
It is proposed that the panels will cover areas such as  
 

• HOME- Repairs and Maintenance, quality of accommodation including the 
Decent Homes Programme and Voids 

• SOLUTIONS- CBL, Homelessness service and Gateway 

• NEIGHBOURHOOD- Estate and communal areas, ASB, Cleaning and 
caretaking 

• INVOLVEMENT AND EMPOWERMENT- Customer service, equality and 
diversity  

• STRATEGY- VFM and target setting 
 
The above panels would be presented with a work plan by the overarching board and 
meet as and when required but it is anticipated this will be a minimum of once every two 
months. Each of these areas has been identified in a recent 2012 summer survey on 
tenants’ priorities.   
 
The overarching scrutiny board comprising of tenant chairs would meet a minimum of 4 
times a year with two of these being attended by the cabinet member for Housing and 
the Director, one of these meetings would be the presentation of an annual report 
highlighting the work and recommendations of the various scrutiny panels for the 
preceding year and the second would be concerned with the proposed work plan for the 
upcoming year.     
 

35



 

 Page 28 of 30 

 

The annual work programme will be driven in the main although not exclusively by the 
following areas  
 

• Development of tenant centred local offers 

• Use of performance indicators  

• Focus on issues that deliver outcomes for tenants  

• Address areas of weakness identified in tenant satisfaction surveys 

• Taking account of diversity and equality issues relating to tenant profile 

• Value for money of service provided  

• Develop a regular programme of Tenant Audits, mystery shopping etc 
 
A schematic of the proposed scrutiny structure is shown overleaf 

36



 

  Author: A. Joel / T. Ansell 
 Page 29 of 30 
 

 
 
 
 

Director of Housing  

Scrutiny Board / Committee 

HOME – Repairs, 
Maintenance, Decent 
Homes,  

TENANCY SOLUTIONS 

– CBL, Gateway, 
Homelessness 

NEIGHBOURHOOD – 

ASB, Cleaning & 
Caretaking  

INVOLVEMENT & 

EMPOWERMENT – 

Customer Services, E&D,  

POLICY / VALUE FOR 

MONEY – service 
standards / local offers, 
strategy & policy 

Portfolio Holder for Housing 

37



 

  Author: A. Joel / T. Ansell 
 Page 30 of 30 
 

 
In order for the scrutiny function to operate successfully a long term look at service 
planning and delivery is needed, so as to ensure that services continue to reflect 
tenant’s priorities and also deliver value for money. It may be necessary for extensive 
training to be offered to panel members in order that this aspect of tenant scrutiny can 
be delivered effectively. 
 
The panels will all share a common purpose which is to improve the service delivered 
by Northampton Borough Council and received by our tenants, whilst remaining 
focussed on tenant centred outcomes. 
 
Tenants on the panels may see things from a different perspective and not necessarily 
from the same viewpoint as officers and this should be seen as a positive of the scrutiny 
function, all conclusions of the panels will be based firmly on evidence rather than 
opinion or hearsay, but equally there needs to be a firm commitment that the findings of 
the panel are not only considered by the decision makers (senior officers and 
councillors) in the process but also that a response is given to the presented findings. 
 
   

 
 
 

38



The Regulatory Framework for Social Housing requires all social housing providers to ensure that all tenants are given 

a wide range of opportunities to influence and be involved in making decisions about how housing and housing related 

services are designed and delivered as well as in the setting of service standards.  

We are carrying out this survey of all tenants / leaseholders of Northampton Borough Council as part our review of 

engagement options for the future as well as the introduction of the 2013 – 16 Tenant Engagement Strategy. to view 

our draft strategy, click here. The review is being carried out by the Customer Engagement Team.  

The consultation runs from 1st January 2013 and ends on 31st January 2013. As part of this review process, we 

would like you to take a few minutes to answer a few questions that would help shape future engagement at 

Northampton Borough Council. 

We will publish the results of this consultation on the Council’s website – www.northampton.gov.uk. We will also post 

a copy of the results out to any tenant / leaseholder that requests the results in their questionnaire. please include 

your name and address should you require a copy of the results.  

If you need this questionnaire in any other format, please contact the Customer Engagement Team on 01604-837836 

or email participation@northampton.gov.uk or Text 07876 376920.  

For any enquiries relating to the consultation, please contact Ashiedu Joel, Customer Engagement Team Leader on 

01604-838223 or email participation@northampton.gov.uk 

Northampton Borough Council is registered with the Information Commissioners Office under the Data Protection Act 

1998 to collect, hold and use personal and sensitive personal information under registration number Z5256045. The 

answers provided in the questionnaires are treated as confidential information and Northampton Borough Council will 

not be able to identify you unless you specify otherwise in your questionnaire. 

Thank you for taking part! 

 

Background

39



In the recent Housing Options review, tenants told us that they wanted to have their 

views heard and to have more influence in decisions taken by the Council. In order to 

address this, the Council would like to introduce a scrutiny panel model for tenants to 

provide challenge and give views on a range of housing activities.  

 

Under the model being proposed, panels will be set up each of which would cover a 

specific area of service delivery. 

 

It is proposed that the panels will cover areas such as  

 

• HOME- Repairs and Maintenance, quality of accommodation including the Decent 

Homes Programme and Voids 

• SOLUTIONS – Choice Based Lettings, Homelessness Service and Gateway scheme 

• NEIGHBOURHOOD – Estates and Communal areas, Anti Social Behaviour, Cleaning & 

Caretaking  

• STRATEGY – Value for Money and target setting  

• INVOLVEMENT & EMPOWERMENT – Customer Service, Equality & Diversity,  

 

The exact number of panels will be confirmed once levels of interest are established.  

 

Membership of the panels will be on a self-selection basis after attending an event to be 

organized. Once established, it is anticipated that the panel will meet regularly, a 

minimum of once every two months. The panel members would elect a chair and these 

chairs would form a tenant scrutiny board.  

 

The tenant scrutiny board comprising of tenant chairs would meet a number of times a 

year with two of these being attended by the cabinet member for Housing and the 

Director. An annual report highlighting the work and recommendations of the various 

scrutiny panels will be presented to cabinet for consideration. 

 

Do you agree with this approach?

Strongly agree
 

nmlkj Tend to agree
 

nmlkj Tend to disagree
 

nmlkj Strongly disagree
 

nmlkj

Other (please specify) 

55

66

40



Are there any other options or models for tenant engagement that we should consider? 

Please give us details in the box below.

 

Do you have any additional comments about our proposed engagement strategy?

 

If you would you like to receive a copy of the results, please give us your details:

55

66

55

66

Name:

Address:

Address 2:

Postal Code:

Email Address:

Phone Number:

41


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes of 22 November 2012

	5 Housing Tenant Engagement Strategy (Joe Biskupski)
	Strategy Questionnaire


